**S273802**

No. \_\_\_\_\_

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE  
STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

**Angelica Ramirez,**

*Plaintiff and Respondent,*

v.

**Charter Communications, Inc.,**

*Defendant and Petitioner.*

---

Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second  
Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B309408

Superior Court of the State of California, County of  
Los Angeles, Honorable David J. Cowan, Case No.  
20STCV25987

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

HILL, FARRER & BURRILL LLP

James A. Bowles, S.B. No. 089383

jbowles@hillfarrer.com

Casey L. Morris, S.B. No. 238455

cmorris@hillfarrer.com

Elissa L. Gysi, S.B. No. 281338

egysi@hillfarrer.com

**I. ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in finding the provision in Charter’s arbitration agreement allowing for recovery of interim attorneys’ fees after a successful motion to compel arbitration so substantively unconscionable as to render the arbitration agreement unenforceable where the Court of Appeal in *Patterson* reached the opposite conclusion and found the provision lawful and enforceable.

2. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in refusing to enforce and refusing to sever the allegedly unconscionable provisions of Charter’s arbitration agreement where numerous other courts have enforced the same agreement.

3. Whether the Court of Appeal’s decision that

Charter's arbitration agreement is not enforceable is preempted as in conflict the Federal Arbitration Act as interpreted by this Court.

## II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Supreme Court may order review of a Court of Appeal decision when necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law. Cal Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b).

Here, the Court of Appeal below explicitly contradicted a prior decision of a different Division of the same court in *Patterson*, which was issued just four months before. The Court's reasoning in the Opinion also contradicts the trial court below, the decision from the same Division in *Bravo v. Charter Communs.*, No. B303179, 2021 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 1872 (Mar. 23, 2021) ("*Bravo*"), and numerous other California trial court and federal district court decisions which enforced Charter's arbitration agreement. Consequently, there is now a split in appellate authority regarding whether Charter's arbitration agreement, and any other employment arbitration agreements with similar provisions, are enforceable.

Specifically, Charter's arbitration agreement includes a provision at Section K which allows for interim recovery of attorneys' fees if a party successfully compels arbitration of claims improperly initiated in state court. In *Patterson*, the Court of Appeal analyzed Section K and held that the provision

was enforceable under certain circumstances and did not render Charter's agreement unenforceable. Yet the Opinion below explicitly rejected the *Patterson* rationale and held that Section K is one of four provisions which render the agreement irreparably unconscionable.

The Opinion's analysis of Section K and three other provisions of Charter's arbitration agreement contradicts the reasoning of numerous other courts that have analyzed and enforced the same arbitration agreement. For example, the trial court below issued a tentative ruling in Charter's favor, and then reversed its decision based on supposed substantive unconscionability on *different* grounds. On the other hand, the decision in *Bravo* held that the agreement is valid and compelled arbitration. The majority of California trial court and federal district courts which have reviewed Charter's Agreement have also enforced it.

In the rare cases where trial courts found some provision of the Charter Agreement substantively unconscionable, those courts properly severed such provisions in order to render the Agreement enforceable. *See, e.g., Albarro Ibarra v. Charter*, Los Angeles Superior Court case number 21STCV36249; *Angela Sestrick v. Charter*, Los Angeles Superior Court case number 21STCV33717. Severance of the unconscionable provisions is required by California law. *See, e.g., Serpa v. Cal. Sur. Investigations, Inc.*, 215 Cal. App. 4th 695 (2013) ("*Serpa*"), *Baltazar v. Forever 21, Inc.*, 62 Cal. 4th 1237 (2016) ("*Baltazar*"),

and *Iskanian (Arshavir) v. CLS Transp. of L.A. LLC*, 147 Cal. Rptr. 3d 324 (2012) (“*Iskanian*”). As these authoritative decisions recognize, the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) requires California courts to give deference to the parties’ private arbitration agreements and to interpret or sever provisions of those agreements as necessary in order to render them enforceable. The Opinion contravenes the FAA and this Court’s precedent by starkly refusing to sever the allegedly unconscionable provisions.

The impact of the decision below will be to perpetuate confusion among employers, employees, attorneys, trial courts, and appellate courts.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, Charter respectfully requests the Supreme Court to grant this Petition in order to create uniform authority regarding the enforceability of Charter’s Agreement and other similar employment arbitration agreements under the FAA.

### **III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND**

Charter provides telecommunications services to customers throughout the United States. Charter also purchases and sells goods, materials, supplies, services, and equipment in multiple states. As such, during all relevant times, Charter was engaged and involved in interstate commerce within the meaning of the FAA. Ramirez worked for Charter from July 17, 2019 through

---

<sup>1</sup> Charter alone employs over 93,000 employees nationwide, most of whom are bound by Charter’s Arbitration Agreement.

May 14, 2020.

**A. The Arbitration Agreement**

Plaintiff Angelica Ramirez agreed to arbitrate all claims against Charter on two occasions. First, when Ramirez applied to work for Charter on June 28, 2019, and second when Ramirez commenced employment with Charter on July 17, 2019. In order to submit her application for employment and then later to complete the onboarding process, Ramirez was required to agree to participate in Charter's Solution Channel Program, which requires binding arbitration of employment-related disputes pursuant to the terms of Charter's Mutual Arbitration Agreement ("Arbitration Agreement").

Charter's Arbitration Agreement cautioned applicants, prospective employees, and employees in bold and capitalized text to "**PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING MUTUAL ARBITRATION AGREEMENT ('AGREEMENT') CAREFULLY**" and informed them that: "**IF YOU ACCEPT THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT ... YOU ARE AGREEING TO SUBMIT ANY COVERED EMPLOYMENT-RELATED DISPUTE BETWEEN YOU AND [CHARTER] TO BINDING ARBITRATION. YOU ARE ALSO AGREEING TO WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO LITIGATE THE DISPUTE IN COURT AND/OR HAVE THE DISPUTE DECIDED BY A JURY.**" The Arbitration Agreement further specified that it was a mutual agreement, and that Charter must also submit any claims it had against the employee to binding arbitration. The

Solution Channel Guidelines explained the benefits of arbitration and described the arbitration process in detail, including that all parties waived the right to have covered claims “heard by a court, judge, or jury.”

**B. The Complaint and Motion to Compel Arbitration**

On July 9, 2020, notwithstanding her agreement to arbitrate, Ramirez filed this civil action, alleging the following employment-related causes of action against Charter: (1) disability discrimination; (2) interference with taking pregnancy leave; (3) retaliation; (4) harassment; (5) failure to prevent retaliation and harassment; (6) failure to accommodate; (7) failure to engage in the interactive process; and (8) and wrongful termination. It is undisputed that all of Ramirez's claims fall within the scope of her Arbitration Agreement.

On October 20, 2020, Charter filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and to Dismiss or Stay the Action in response to Ramirez’s Complaint. Charter also filed a Request for Judicial Notice in Support of the Motion. The trial court took notice of twelve United States District Court and California state court decisions where the courts compelled arbitration based on the same Arbitration Agreement that was at issue in the appeal and is the subject of this Petition.

Ramirez opposed Charter's Motion to Compel Arbitration on November 2, 2020. Charter filed a Reply in Support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration on November 5, 2020.

On November 16, 2020, the trial court held a hearing on Charter's Motion to Compel Arbitration. Prior to the hearing, the trial court issued a tentative ruling granting Charter's motion. In its tentative ruling granting Charter's Motion to Compel Arbitration, the trial court correctly found that Ramirez consented to the Arbitration Agreement both when she applied for employment with Charter and when she completed Charter's onboarding process after accepting the job offer. The trial court further found that while the statute of limitations provision and the provision providing remedies to the prevailing party could be interpreted as potentially unconscionable in certain circumstances, those circumstances were not present in this case and that those provisions could be severed.

At the hearing on the Motion, for the first time, Ramirez contended that the interim attorneys' fee provision in section K of the Arbitration Agreement was also unconscionable. Section K of the Arbitration Agreement provides for attorneys' fees to be awarded to a prevailing party on a motion to compel arbitration. The trial court incorrectly held this provision unconscionable, refused to sever it, and on that basis refused to enforce the Arbitration Agreement. On November 25, 2020, the trial court issued its final ruling, denying the motion on the ground that the Agreement was unconscionable.

**C. The Court of Appeal Decision**

Charter timely appealed the denial of the Motion by filing a Notice of Appeal on December 7, 2020. On February 18, 2022, the Court of Appeal affirmed. Exh. A. This Petition for Review follows.

**D. The Patterson Decision and Other Cases  
Enforcing the Arbitration Agreement**

The Opinion directly contradicts and openly criticizes a recent prior decision by Division Seven of the same Court, in *Patterson v. Superior Court*, 70 Cal. App. 5th 473 (2021), which was issued on October 18, 2021. In *Patterson*, the Court of Appeal affirmed the enforceability of the interim attorneys' fee provision in Section K of Charter's Arbitration Agreement.

In *Patterson*, the trial court granted Charter's motion to compel arbitration of Michael Patterson's employment claims against Charter and rejected Patterson's arguments that Charter's Arbitration Agreement is unconscionable. *Patterson* at 479. Patterson sought a writ of mandate of the grant of Charter's motion, which was summarily denied. *Id.* Charter then moved the trial court for an award of attorneys' fees under Section K of the Arbitration Agreement, which the trial court granted. Patterson sought a writ of mandate of the fee award, arguing that Section K of the Agreement was unconscionable. The Court of Appeal granted the petition to decide whether Section K of Arbitration Agreement is enforceable. The Court found that

Section K was *not substantively unconscionable*:

Charter argues the fee provision in its arbitration agreement is analogous to the separate fee provision at issue in *Acosta, supra*, 150 Cal.App.4th 1124—that is, it is specifically directed to fees incurred to compel arbitration—and **should be enforced on the same basis. We agree.** ... Patterson’s claims are based on Charter’s alleged violations of FEHA. The only contract dispute was the enforceability of the arbitration agreement. **Charter was the prevailing party in the superior court and is entitled to its fees under the fee provision in that contract to the extent not otherwise prohibited or limited by FEHA.**

*Patterson*, at 486 (emphasis added). While Patterson (a former Charter employee) urged this Court to “hold the fee-shifting provision in the Charter arbitration agreement is unenforceable and direct the superior court to enter a new order denying Charter’s motion for attorney fees[.]” the Court of Appeal held:

[G]iven the **strong public policy favoring arbitration** (see, e.g., *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 563 U.S. 333, 339 (*Concepcion*); *OTO, L.L.C. v. Kho* (2019) 8 Cal.5th 111, 125) and the **requirement we interpret the provisions in a contract in a manner that render them legal rather than void when possible** (see Civ. Code, §§ 1643 [if possible without violating the parties’ unambiguous intent, a contract is interpreted so as to make it ‘lawful, operative, definite, reasonable, and capable of being carried into effect’], 3541 [‘[a]n interpretation which gives effect is preferred to one which makes void’]), **we construe the prevailing party fee provision in the arbitration agreement to impliedly incorporate the FEHA asymmetric rule for awarding attorney fees and costs.** (Cf. *Pearson Dental Supplies, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 665, 682; *Roman v. Superior Court* (2009)

172 Cal.App.4th 1462, 1473).

*Patterson*, at 489-490 (emphasis added).

*Patterson* is one of many California and federal court rulings enforcing Charter's Arbitration Agreement. *See, e.g., Bravo*. The Opinion below conflicts with these rulings and creates a conflict of law that this Court should resolve.

#### IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

The Court below invalidated Charter's arbitration agreement on the premise that the agreement includes four provisions which are substantively unconscionable, and thus render the entire agreement unenforceable. One of these purportedly unconscionable provisions is the provision which allows for recovery of interim attorneys' fees on a successful motion to compel arbitration, which the *Patterson* court recently enforced. Although the *Patterson* court found that the provision could be read to contravene the fee shifting provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA"), the Court still followed the requirements of the FAA and precedent in *Armendariz v. Found. Health Psychcare Servs., Inc.*, 24 Cal. 4th 83 (2000) ("*Armendariz*") by finding the provision enforceable under circumstances that would not conflict with FEHA. Here, by contrast, the Court of Appeal contravened the FAA and this Court's decisions in *Baltazar* and *Iskanian* by refusing to sever any allegedly unconscionable provisions in the Arbitration Agreement in order to render it enforceable.

**A. There is a Direct Conflict Between the Decision Below and the *Patterson* Decision on Whether Section K of Charter’s Arbitration Agreement Is Enforceable.**

As discussed above, the *Patterson* court held that Section K of Charter’s Arbitration Agreement was enforceable, under the principles established by the FAA and *Armendariz*, which require courts to give effect to arbitration agreements between parties. *See, e.g., AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011) (noting the “liberal federal policy favoring arbitration”); *Armendariz*, 24 Cal. 4th at 97 (“California law, like federal law, favors enforcement of valid arbitration agreements.”). The *Patterson* court relied primarily on Civil Code §§ 1643 3541, *Armendariz*, *Pearson Dental Supplies, Inc. v. Superior Court*, 48 Cal.4th 665, 682 (2010) (“*Pearson*”), and *Roman v. Superior Court* 172 Cal.App.4th 1462, 1473 (2009) (“*Roman*”) in its holding that although Section K had the potential to conflict with the attorneys’ fee award provisions in the FEHA, the provision and thus the Agreement were still enforceable where the plaintiff’s opposition to the motion to compel arbitration was frivolous or groundless. *Patterson* at 490.

The Opinion below explicitly rejected the reasoning of the *Patterson* decision and created conflicting authority:

In affirming, we also disagree with [*Patterson*], which considered the enforceability of a provision in the same arbitration agreement at issue here that awards attorney fees to the prevailing party on a motion to compel arbitration. After concluding that the provision

was not enforceable as written, the court in *Patterson* incorporated an implied term bringing the provision into accord with the asymmetrical attorney fee standard of FEHA under section 12965, subdivision (c)(6) (a prevailing defendant is entitled to attorney fees only if the employee's action was frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless). With that implied term, the court in *Patterson* found the provision enforceable. As we explain in detail below, we disagree with *Patterson's* analysis and find the provision unconscionable.

Exh. A at 369. The Opinion below details the reasons it disagrees with the *Patterson* ruling, including *Patterson's* reliance on this Court's ruling in *Armendariz* to support its enforcement of the Agreement. The Opinion below concludes the attorneys' fee provision is not sufficiently ambiguous to allow the Court to step in to enforce it. *See* Exh. A at 379.

The Court's logic below is faulty. The Court relies in part on *Serpa v. Cal. Sur. Investigations, Inc.*, 215 Cal. App. 4th 695 (2013) to hold that because the attorneys' fee provision in Charter's Agreement is straightforward, it cannot be saved or severed. *See* Exh. A at 379. Yet in *Serpa* the Court enforced an employment arbitration agreement that included an unenforceable fee provision and simply severed the offensive provision. After finding the attorneys' fee provision unenforceable, the *Serpa* court held that the "offending provision, which is plainly collateral to the main purpose of the contract, is properly severed and the remainder of the contract enforced." *Id.* at 710 (citing *Roman v. Superior Court*, 172 Cal. App. 4th 1462 (2009) ("*Roman*")).

The Court below then attempted to distinguish the particular facts of the rulings relied upon by the *Patterson* Court, *Pearson* and *Roman*. The Court below concluded that the courts' efforts to save the arbitration agreements in those cases were distinguishable because they were required to interpret ambiguous provisions or provisions which were "treated as ambiguous under the circumstances." Exh. A (*Ramirez* at 380). The Court's finding of ambiguity in the provisions at issue in these other cases was arbitrary. Both *Pearson* and *Roman* clearly stand for the principle applied in the *Patterson* case, that allegedly unconscionable fee provisions in arbitration agreements are collateral to the main purpose of those agreements and should be severed.

In *Roman*, the Court of Appeal relied on *Armendariz* and severed an unconscionable fee shifting provision, noting: "the strong legislative and judicial preference is to sever the offending term and enforce the balance of the agreement." *Roman*, at 1477. "We have little difficulty concluding the interests of justice would be furthered by severance of the cost provision, which, if unconscionable ... is plainly 'collateral to the main purpose of the contract.'" *Roman*, at 1478 (citing *Armendariz* at 124).

In *Pearson*, this Court cited *Roman* to re-emphasize "the general principle that we interpret a contractual provision in a manner that renders it enforceable rather than void." *Pearson* at 682. The Court proceeded to interpret a provision in the arbitration agreement at issue regarding administrative

remedies to comply with existing law. *Ibid.*

Again, the Court's efforts to distinguish *Pearson* and *Roman*, both of which enforced the arbitration agreements at issue, illustrate that the Court below improperly ignored the weight of Supreme Court and Appellate Court precedent that requires enforcement of employment arbitration agreements, even where there is doubt as to the enforceability of certain provisions.

Finally, the Court below attempted to undermine the *Patterson* court's reliance on *Armendariz*, by arguing that the provisions in the arbitration agreement regarding costs were different than Section K at issue here: "In *Armendariz*, the agreement had no provision governing costs, and the court was not called upon to interpret one. Thus, the Supreme Court did not make the arbitration agreement enforceable by grafting an implied cost-sharing term onto an express provision governing costs." Exh. A (*Ramirez* at 382).

But the Court below in its analysis of *Armendariz* entirely missed the point made in *Patterson*: *Armendariz* stands for the principle that courts must interpret arbitration agreements so as to render them enforceable. *Patterson*, at 490. It does not matter if the exact attorneys' fee issue in *Armendariz* was distinct from the fee provision in Charter's Arbitration Agreement. Rather, as *Patterson* correctly concluded, *Armendariz* requires the Courts of Appeal in these cases to give credence to the parties' contract to arbitrate all claims between them, even if that process requires

the Court to interpret the interim attorneys' fee provision in Section K not to conflict with FEHA.

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