S273802

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ANGELICA RAMIREZ, Plaintiff and Respondent

v.

CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS, INC., Defendant and Appellant

Court of Appeal of the State of California, Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B309408

> Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles Hon. David J. Cowan, Dept. 20 Case No. 20STCV25987

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eric A. Panitz (SBN 243877) PANITZ LAW GROUP APC 18000 Studebaker Road, Suite 700 Cerritos, CA 90703 (562) 924-7800 Phone (562) 924-7801 Fax eric@panitzlaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent

I. Introduction

Petitioner Charter Communications, Inc. ("Charter") seeks review of the Court of Appeal's decision in this case based on three points:

- (1) The Court of Appeal's finding that the provision in Charter's arbitration agreement allowing for recovery of interim attorneys' fees after a successful motion to compel arbitration is unconscionable and could not be re-written to render it enforceable.
- (2) The refusal to sever the multiple unconscionable provisions of the agreement to allow enforcement.
- (3) Whether the decision violates the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"). 1

As set forth below, review is not appropriate here because the Court of Appeal's reasoning and holding is consistent with established law and does not create any meaningful conflicts with the decisions of other appellate courts.

Accordingly, review is not "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b).)

II. Allowing Recovery of Attorney's Fees for Enforcement of Arbitration Clause is Substantively Unconscionable

A. The Agreement Has Multiple Unconscionable Provisions In its published opinion in this case, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision to deny Charter's motion to compel arbitration. *Ramirez v. Charter Commc'ns, Inc.* (2022) 75 Cal. App. 5th 365 ("*Ramirez*"). While the Petition focuses only on

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ 9 U.S.C § 1, et seq.

one aspect of the Court of Appeal's analysis of the arbitration clause at issue – interim attorney fees for enforcement of arbitration – the Court of Appeal's decision is not dependent on that issue alone.

The Court of Appeal found that the arbitration agreement at issue had *multiple* provisions that rendered it substantively, as well as procedurally, unconscionable and therefore unenforceable:

- By requiring that arbitration be initiated within the statutory time for filing an administrative charge with the DFEH, it had the "practical effect" of "cut[ting] the period to file a FEHA² action by as much as two years" and could require the employee to arbitrate even before the DFEH has finished its investigation. (*Id.* at 375.)
- The agreement requires an award of interim attorney fees for enforcement of the arbitration clause to the employer. (*Id.* at 377-82.)
- 3. The agreement "is unfairly one sided because it compels arbitration of the claims more likely to be brought by an employee, the weaker party, but exempts from arbitration the types of claims that are more likely to be brought by an employer, the stronger party." For example, it excludes claims regarding trade secrets, confidentiality agreements, non-compete agreements, theft or embezzlement, and intellectual property, all of which are claims almost exclusively brought by employers. (*Id.* at 382-83.)

² Gov. Code § 12940, et seq.

 It limits discovery in a manner that would not allow the employee a fair opportunity to present her case. (*Id.* at 384-86.)

In spite of the fact that the Court of Appeal found that the agreement was substantively unconscionable on these four separate bases, Charter's Petition only challenges the decision as to a single item, the interim attorney fees provision. Thus, even if, *arguendo*, Charter were correct about this provision, the ultimate result would not change because there are three other provisions that also render the agreement substantively unconscionable.

Thus, regardless of the resolution of Charter's proposed Issue I, the results in this case would remain unchanged. Accordingly, there is no basis for Supreme Court review in this case.

B. *Patterson* Did Not Address Issue of Unconscionability of the Agreement as a Whole

 Enforceability of Agreement Was Not at Issue in *Patterson* Moreover, *Patterson v. Sup. Ct.* (2021), 70 Cal.App.5th 473
("Patterson"), is not in conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case on the larger question of unconscionability because
(a) it did not address the overall enforceability of the agreement and (b) it held that the interim fee provision was unenforceable as written. *Patterson* was the result of a writ petition seeking reversal of an award of attorney's fees under the same arbitration agreement at issue here. The trial court had previously rejected the employee's unconscionability challenge to the agreement as a whole and the Court of Appeal had summarily denied the writ as to that issue. (*Id.* at 478-79.) Thus, the issue of the agreement's enforceability as a whole was not the subject of the court's decision in *Patterson*; nor was severance of unconscionable provisions. Since "it is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered," there can be no conflict between *Ramirez* and *Patterson* on matters not at issue in *Patterson*. (*People v. Alvarez* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1161, 1176; *Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1109, 1160.)

The only issue in *Patterson* was the enforceability of the interim attorney's fee provision.

2. *Patterson* and *Ramirez* Agree That Interim Attorney's Fee Clause is Unenforceable as Written

After the motion to compel arbitration in *Patterson* was granted, Charter had filed a separate motion to recover attorney's fees on the motion to compel arbitration. It was after the trial court granted that motion that the Court of Appeal took up the issue on a writ. (*Id.* at 479-80.) In cases brought under FEHA, a prevailing defendant may only recover attorney fees and costs if the plaintiff's case was frivolous; by contrast, a prevailing plaintiff is presumptively entitled to recover fees. (*Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire District* (2015) 61 Cal.4th 97, 115.)

The primary questions addressed in *Patterson* were: (1) whether the interim fee clause violated FEHA's "asymmetric" rules regarding attorney's fees; and (2) if so, can it be saved by interpolating a requirement that the employer only recover fees if the employee's position was frivolous. *Patterson* also discussed the enforceability of the provision under Civ. Code section 1717.

Charter itself argued in that case that FEHA's asymmetric attorney's fee rules were *not* applicable to fees on enforcement of arbitration and sought to enforce the provision as written. Clearly, Charter believed the contract (which it itself wrote) to unambiguously support its claim for fees in that case without regard to whether the plaintiff's position had been frivolous.

Patterson concluded that, although interim fees could be authorized by contract, FEHA's asymmetric rule regarding attorney's fees and costs *also* applies to interim fees on a motion to compel arbitration. Accordingly, attorney's fees could only be awarded to an employer based on a finding that the employee's opposition to arbitration was frivolous. (*Id.* at 431.) Thus, the interim attorney's fee clause was *unenforceable as written*.

3. *Ramirez* Correctly Determined That Interim Attorney's Fee Clause Was Mandatory and Unambiguous

To that extent, there is no conflict between *Patterson* and *Ramirez*: both agree that this clause of the Charter arbitration agreement is unenforceable as written. The only point in contention is whether the court should "construe the prevailing party fee provision in the arbitration agreement to impliedly incorporate the FEHA asymmetric rule for awarding attorney fees and costs." (*Patterson* at 490.)

In *Ramirez*, the court concluded that it could not do so because the provision clearly and unambiguously states:

If any judicial action or proceeding is commenced in order to compel arbitration, and if arbitration is in fact compelled or the party resisting arbitration submits to arbitration following the commencement of the action or proceeding, the party that resisted

9

arbitration will be required to pay to the other party all costs, fees and expenses that they incur in compelling arbitration, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees. (1AA 132.)

The contractual language is clear and mandatory: the party unsuccessfully "resisting arbitration... *will* be required" pay the compelling party's attorneys' fees. (Emphasis added.) There is no indication that the court has any discretion in determining whether either party acted reasonably or was taking a frivolous position.

Ramirez noted that, although courts are generally directed to interpret contracts so as to render them "lawful, operative, definite, reasonable, and capable of being carried into effect," that only applies if it can be done "without violating the intention of the parties" as reflected in the explicit meaning of the text. (Ramirez at 379; Civ. Code § 1643.) Ramirez concluded that interpolating the FEHA asymmetric attorney's fee rule into the agreement would violate the clear mandate of the contract's language and was therefore not an option.

In this, *Ramirez* is in agreement with *Serpa v. California Surety Investigations, Inc.* (2013), 215 Cal.App.4th 695. In *Serpa*, the agreement unambiguously stated that each party would bear its own attorney's fees. The court refused to read FEHA's statutory attorney fee recovery rules into the agreement because it was unambiguous and not susceptible to reinterpretation; that clause was therefore unenforceable. (*Id.* at 709-710.)

Serpa also noted that a different result would be required if the agreement was "silent on the question of attorney fees" or

10

generally allowed recovery fees "in accordance with applicable law." In either of those circumstances, FEHA's attorney's fee rules could *not* be read into the agreement. (*Id.*) This was consistent with prior caselaw holding that agreements should be interpreted in a manner allowing enforcement whenever they are silent or ambiguous on an issue. (*See, e.g., Pearson Dental Supplies, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 665, 682 [ambiguity regarding administrative charges]; *Roman v. Superior Court* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1462, 1473 [ambiguity regarding bilateral obligations]; *Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 113 [imposing arbitration costs on employer where agreement was silent.])

Patterson failed to recognize the fundamental distinction between imposing an interpretation where an agreement is silent or ambiguous, and re-writing a clear and unambiguous provision of the agreement to mean something it patently does not say. Petitioners similarly ignore this crucial distinction in arguing that the court should have reinterpreted the provision to incorporate FEHA rules on attorney's fees and costs.

Thus, the *Ramirez* court correctly found that the provision at issue was not ambiguous or subject to reinterpretation and was therefore correct in refusing to read the FEHA requirements into the agreement.

C. Ramirez is not Inconsistent with Bravo

In addition, there is no inconsistency between *Ramirez* and *Bravo v. Charter Communs.*, No. B303179, 2021 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 1872 (Mar. 23, 2021) ("*Bravo*"), an unpublished case. First, even assuming, *arguendo*, that there is a conflict between *Ramirez* and *Bravo*, that would not create any legal issue to be resolved by the Supreme Court or pose any difficulty to the trial courts in this state. As an unpublished case, *Bravo* cannot be cited or relied upon by the trial courts in this state. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.1115.) Trial courts are bound to the follow *Ramirez*, which is a published case. (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Sup. Ct.* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455 [decisions of any division of the District Courts of Appeal binding on all superior courts, unless there is a split of authority.]) Thus, any potential conflict between the cases poses no issue of statewide uniformity of law.

In any case, there is no conflict between *Bravo* and *Ramirez* because they were dealing with different issues. In *Bravo*, the employees did not oppose the motion to compel arbitration on grounds of unconscionability. Instead, they argued that the agreements failed because the requirements for electronic transactions were not followed and there was no evidence of actual notice to the employees of the terms of the agreement. (*Bravo* at *6.) The trial court rejected these arguments and instead denied the motion on other grounds: that there was "an absence of acceptance and consideration." (*Id.* at *7-8.) The Court of Appeal rejected all of these arguments – both those of the employees and those of the trial court – and reversed the order denying the motion to compel arbitration.

The only mention of unconscionability in *Bravo* is a footnote stating: "The trial court also found, for purposes of the Employers' motion, the arbitration agreements were not

12

unconscionable, as the parties did not appear to dispute the matter." (*Id.* at*7, fn.2.)

Thus, although *Bravo* involved the same arbitration agreement, there is no conflict between *Ramirez* and *Bravo* because the Court of Appeal was presented different issues by the respective trial court rulings and the parties' arguments. *Bravo* did not discuss any of the issues involved in *Ramirez* and did not address unconscionability other than to state that unconscionability was *not an issue* because it was not disputed by the parties. Accordingly, there is no conflict between *Bravo* and *Ramirez* and no possible issue of statewide uniformity in the application of the law on this issue.

D. Trial Court Cases Do Not Do Not Support Grant of Review Charter also argues that Supreme Court review is necessary because a number of trial courts have enforced the agreement in the past. This, however, is irrelevant to the issue of statewide uniformity of law because trial courts are bound to follow the published rulings of the Courts of Appeal and are therefore now bound to follow *Ramirez*. Further, "a written trial court ruling has no precedential value," and therefore cannot create a conflict of authority. (*Santa Ana Hospital Medical Center* v. Belshé (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 819, 831.)

Moreover, even if some federal district court opinions conflict with *Ramirez* that too does not raise any serious risk to statewide uniformity of law. District courts are also generally required to follow *Ramirez* in the future as the last word of a California appellate court on these issues of California law. (*See*, *Poublon v. C.H. Robinson Co.* (9th Cir. 2017) 846 F.3d 1251, 1266 ["A state appellate court's announcement of a rule of law is ... is not to be disregarded by a federal court unless it is convinced ... that the highest court of the state would decide otherwise."])

Finally, the mere fact that Charter employs a large number of employees in this state, and that it has been successful in enforcing its arbitration agreement in certain trial courts in the past, does not raise an "important issue of law" requiring the intervention of this court.

Based on the foregoing, there is no need for this Court to order review over proposed Issue I, as there are no conflicts of authority regarding "important issues of law," and there is no risk to the uniformity of decision in the courts.

III. Court of Appeal Correctly Found No Abuse of Discretion in Trial Court's Refusal to Sever

The Court of Appeal in this case declined to order severance of the unconscionable provisions based on the longstanding rule that "[s]everance may be properly denied when the agreement contains more than one unconscionable provision, and there is no single provision a court can strike or restrict in order to remove the unconscionable taint from the agreement." (*Ramirez* at 386-87, internal quotes omitted; *Baxter v. Genworth North America Corp.* (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 713, 737-38; *see, e.g., Magno v. Coll. Network, Inc.* (2016) 1 Cal.App.5th 277, 292 ["An agreement to arbitrate is considered 'permeated' by unconscionability where it contains more than one unconscionable provision"]; *Penilla v. Westmont Corp.* (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 205, 223; *Ali v. Daylight Transp., LLC* (2020) 59

14

Cal.App.5th 462, 482; *Davis v. Kozak* (2020) 53 Cal.App.5th 897, 918.)

Here, the Court of Appeal found the agreement to be unconscionable for four separate reasons, as described above, and therefore refused to order a severance of the unconscionable provisions. This is consistent with *Armendariz* in which this Court held that "multiple defects indicate a systematic effort to impose arbitration on an employee not simply as an alternative to litigation, but as an inferior forum that works to the employer's advantage." (*Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc., supra,* 24 Cal.4th 83, 124.)

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